FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 12/27/2018 2:30 PM

Supreme Court No. ____

Court of Appeals No. 346391

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent ٧. JOSE MENDEZ, JR., Petitioner **BRIEF OF PETITIONER**

> Marie J. Trombley, WSBA 41410 Attorney for Jose Mendez, Jr. PO Box 829 Graham, WA 253-445-7920

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Jose Mendez Jr. through his attorney, Marie Trombley, petitions the Court for review of a decision of the Court of Appeals in *State v. Jose Mendez, Jr.,* Court of Appeals No. 34639-1-III.

II. DECISION OF LOWER COURT

The Court of Appeals filed an opinion on September 11, 2018, generally affirming the trial court's sentencing which included a 1990 federal conviction for which the trial court had not performed a comparability analysis, and which had prevented a "wash out" of earlier felony convictions. In its opinion, the Court looked to a second federal conviction which had not been included in the judgment and sentence but raised by the State in its response brief. The Court allowed for Mr. Mendez to request a hearing before the sentencing judge for a comparability analysis for one or both federal convictions if he did so within 60 days of the Court's mandate. The Court declined to consider whether the \$500 in discretionary legal financial obligations was unlawfully imposed because it had not been objected to, and it was below a \$750 threshold for review the writing author employed where a resentencing did not require the defendant's presence. A copy of the decision is attached to this petition as Appendix A.

Mr. Mendez filed a timely motion for reconsideration, pointing out to the Court that the second federal conviction was not listed on the State judgment and sentence, was not presented to the trial court for a comparability analysis, and had not been included in the offender score at the original or subsequent sentencing. Mr. Mendez asked the Court to remand for a comparability analysis of any convictions the State intended to use to determine an offender score, and to place the burden on the trial court, rather than Mr. Mendez, to petition for a hearing.

Mr. Mendez also asked the Court to reconsider the decline of review of the discretionary legal financial obligation.

On November 27, 2018, the Court issued an order granting the motion for reconsideration in part and withdrawing its original unpublished opinion. The Court remanded for resentencing for the trial court to conduct a comparability analysis, and to strike the discretionary \$500 incarceration fee and the \$100 DNA collection fee. A copy of the Court's order is attached as Appendix B.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. Is it a violation of the law of the case doctrine for the trial court to allow the State to present evidence after it has already conceded an issue at the Court of Appeals?

B. Where the judgment and sentence list a single federal conviction, for which the trial court neglects to conduct a comparability analysis, is it error for the State to raise the issue of a second alleged federal conviction for the first time on appeal?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

After a jury trial Jose Mendez, Jr. was convicted of attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle, two counts of possession of a controlled substance, felony driving while under the influence, and first degree driving with a revoked license. CP 21-22. At the sentencing hearing of April 12, 2013, Mr. Mendez objected to the inclusion of a 1990 federal district court conviction for conspiracy to distribute a controlled substance. (4/12/13 RP 5). The State agreed the federal conviction should be stricken, as it had been unable to get a copy of the federal paperwork due to budget constraints. (4/12/13 RP 4-6). The Commissioner of the Court of Appeals affirmed the convictions and exceptional sentence in a ruling issued September 2014. CP 39-46.

Subsequently, Mr. Mendez filed a personal restraint petition.

CP 48. Among other issues, he pointed out that the sentencing court miscalculated his offender score counting five convictions that 'washed

out' as a result of striking the federal conviction. This Court stated: "We accept the State's concession that the offender score erroneously included washed out offenses. Consequently, we remand for recalculation of the offender score and resentencing." CP 49. This Court explained:

The trial court counted nine earlier adult felonies in Jose Mendez's offender score. Jose Mendez now contends four 1998 drug convictions and one 1998 conviction for failure to return from work release should have washed out. **During sentencing** and by agreement of the parties, the trial court did not include in the calculation a 1990 federal conviction of conspiracy to distribute cocaine because the State had not obtained a certified record of the judgment. *The State now* concedes that several class C felony offenses were washed out due to the State's failure to provide a record of the federal conviction. Under RCW 9.94A.525(2)(c), class C prior felonies are not included in the offender score if, since the last date of release from confinement or entry of judgment and sentence for a felony, the offender spent five consecutive years in the community without committing a crime that resulted in a conviction. We agree that the trial court incorrectly calculated the offender score.

CP 57 (emphasis added).

On remand, this time the State presented the sentencing court with a copy of a federal judgment and sentence. The State did not

present a copy of the indictment, the elements of the offense, or a copy of the guilty plea. (7/15/16 RP 2-3); State Exh. BB. The State argued the remand authorized the court to conduct a full resentencing and the federal conviction was properly before the court. (7/15/16 RP 8).

Mr. Mendez argued that the State had conceded the issue before the Court of Appeals and was limited at the resentencing to correct the offender score to account for the washed out convictions. Additionally, he argued that in the initial sentencing, the State did not have the information to show the federal offense was comparable to a Washington offense. (7/15/16 RP 8-9).

The sentencing court ruled the case had been remanded for a complete resentencing and, without a comparability analysis, included a single federal conviction for conspiracy to distribute a controlled substance, and the previously conceded washed out convictions.

(7/15/16 RP 9-10). The judgment and sentence showed the criminal history as follows. CP 63-64¹.

¹ The 2006 violation of protection order was stricken. (4/12/13 RP 4).

2.3 Criminal History: Prior criminal history used in calculating the offender score (RCW 9.94A.525):

Crime	Date of Sentence	Sentencing Court (County & State)	Date of Crime	Adult or Juvenil e	Type of Crime*
Felony Viol Protection Order 06-1-00753-6	5-30-2006	Yakima, WA	3-18-2006	Adult	NV
Malicious Mischief 2 02-1-01364-9	9-9-2002	Yakima, WA	7-8-2002	Adult	NV
Attempt to Elude 00-1-01893-8	9-9-2002	Yakima, WA	11-9-2000	Adult	NV
Possess Cont Sub - Cocaine 00-1-01678-1	9-9-2002	Yakima, WA	10-4-2000	Adult	Drug
Conspiracy to Distribute Cocaine - CR-90-2005-AAM Last Release 12/17/1999	5-29-1990	US Eastern Dist., WA	12-20-1989	Adult	Drug
Fail to Return to Work Release 88-1-01090-1	11-1-1988	Spokane, WA	11-1-1988	Adult	NV
VUCSA 88-1-00365-4	6-20-1988	Spokane, WA	2-21-1988	Adult	Drug

VUCSA	6-20-1988	Spokane, WA	2-28-1988	Adult	Drug
88-1-00365-4	0.00.1000	Cookers WA	0.40.4000	A - 1 - 1	Davis
VUCSA 88-1-00365-4	6-20-1988	Spokane, WA	2-12-1988	Adult	Drug
VUCSA 87-1-01568-3	1-6-1988	Yakima, WA	11-24-1987	Adult	Drug
Non Felony DUI Convictions					
Drive Under Influence #H00013586	7-15-2011	Yakima Municipal, WA	1-5-2011	Α	
Drive Under Influence #654880	12-15-2008	Yakima District, WA	11-30-2008	Α	
Drive Under Influence #732993	11-13-2008	Yakima District, WA	5-9-2008	Α	
Drive Under Influence #G00058003	7-15-2011	Yakima Municipal, WA	4-15-2008	Α	
Drive Under Influence #605137	2-20-2007	Yakima Municipal, WA	12-1-2006	A	

Mr. Mendez appealed the trial court's ruling. CP 80. In its opinion, the Court of Appeals considered the State's argument that the exhibit presented to the trial judge showed two federal convictions, entered on the same day in 1990. (*Slip. Op.* at 7). The alleged second federal conviction was never entered on the judgment and sentence and the parties and court referred to the federal paperwork as "the" federal conviction (singular). (7/15/16 RP 7-8, 11-12). Nevertheless,

the Court held that if Mr. Mendez contested the comparability of the second federal conviction, he could request a hearing for the sentencing court to consider whether either of the convictions was comparable to a Washington crime.

In the order on motion for reconsideration, the Court remanded for the sentencing court to conduct a comparability analysis on any requested foreign conviction. (Order on Reconsideration p. 10).

Mr. Mendez makes this timely petition for review.

V. ARGUMENT FOR ACCEPTANCE OF REVIEW

The considerations which govern the decision to grant review are set forth in RAP 13.4(b). Petitioner believes this Court should accept review because the decision of the Court of Appeals involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

The issue in this case is whether the law of the case doctrine is violated when the trial court allows the State to withdraw a concession given on appeal. The law of the case doctrine refers to the binding effect that an appellate court's decision has on a trial court's proceedings on remand. *State v. Harrison,* 148 Wn.2d 550, 562, 61 P.3d 1104 (2003). The purpose of the doctrine is to "avoid indefinite relitigation of the same issue, to obtain consistent results in the same

litigation, to afford one opportunity for argument and decision of the matter at issue, and to assure the obedience of the lower courts to the decisions of appellate courts." *Id.* at 562 (internal citation omitted).

Once the appellate court rules, its holding must be followed in all subsequent states of the same litigation. *State v. Schwab,* 163 Wn.2d 664, 672, 185 P.3d 1151 (2008).

In its unpublished opinion *In re Mendez*, 192 Wn. App. 1045 (2016), the appellate Court found the State conceded that several class C felonies were washed out due to the State's failure to provide a record of the federal conviction. The Court agreed with Mr. Mendez, the offender score was incorrectly calculated, vacated the sentence, and remanded to the superior court for resentencing. *Id.* at *5. The Court's ruling specifically cited the concession.

In *State v. Jones*, 182 Wn.2d 1, 338 P.3d 278 (2014), this Court held that RCW 9.94A.530(2) authorized the resentencing court to hear relevant evidence from both parties to ensure accuracy of criminal history. *Id.* at 10-11. Finding that the accuracy of criminal history did not implicate due process concerns, this Court held the legislature acted within its plenary authority to enact RCW 9.94A.530(2), which superseded the common law "no second chance" rule. *Id.*

Jones should not control the outcome of the decision in this case for three reasons. First, in *Jones* the State made no concession to the appellate Court; here, the acceptance of the concession should act as a bar to the execution of the statute. Second, the State did not, in either the original sentencing or the resentencing, argue there were two federal convictions. The trial court did not consider two convictions. A second conviction was not entered on the judgment and sentence. It was only on the most current appeal, wherein it was argued by Mr. Mendez that the listed conspiracy to distribute a controlled substance was not legally or factually equivalent to a Washington crime that the State proposed the exhibit showed two 1990 convictions. (Appellant's Opening Brief, pp. 13-16; Respondent's Brief, p.6).

Third, a trial court's discretion to resentence on remand is limited by the appellate Court's mandate. *State v. Kilgore,* 167 Wn.2d 28, 42, 216 P.3d 393 (2009). The Court in this case held:

We agree that the trial court incorrectly calculated the offender score. Consequently, we vacate the sentence and remand to the superior court for resentencing. As a result, Jose Mendez's remaining contention regarding his trial counsel's and appellate counsel's failures to challenge the offender score are moot. See State v. Hunley, 175 Wn.2d 901, 907, 287 P.3d 584 (2012).

In re Mendez, 192 Wn. App. 1045 at *5. The remand was based on an incorrect offender score and the State's concession the class C felony offenses were washed out. *Id*.

VI. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing facts and authorities, Mr. Mendez respectfully asks this Court to accept review of this petition.