FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/24/2019 8:00 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 96689-3

THE SUPREME COURT OF

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

JOSE MENDEZ, JR., Appellant/Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW BY YAKIMA COUNTY

David B. Trefry WSBA #16050 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney P.O. Box 4846 Spokane, WA 99220

JOSEPH A. BRUSIC Yakima County Prosecuting Attorney 128 N. 2nd St. Rm. 329 Yakima, WA 98901-2621

ISSUES PRESENTED BY PETITION

- 1. This Court should grant review because the Court of Appeals opinion addresses an issue of significant public interest.
 - a. There was a violation of the law of the case doctrine.
 - b. Should the State be allowed to address all of the defendant's criminal history in its Court of Appeals brief?

ANSWER TO ISSUES PRESENTED BY PETITION

1. The Court of Appeals opinion does not merit review. Mendez has not met the standards set forth in RAP 13.4, which set forth basis for review by this court. The Court of Appeals opinion does not merit review under any circumstance and specifically not under RAP 13.4

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The facts are from the Court's opinion in this case:

In 2013, a Yakima County jury found Mr. Mendez guilty of multiple crimes: count 1, attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle; count 2, possession of a controlled substance-cocaine; count 3, possession of a controlled substance-heroin; count 4, first degree driving while license revoked (a gross misdemeanor); and count 5, felony driving under the influence of intoxicating liquor and/or drugs.

At sentencing, the State presented evidence of Mr. Mendez's lengthy criminal conviction history. The history included four 1988 convictions for drug crimes, a 1988 conviction for failure to return from work release, a 1990 federal conviction for conspiracy to distribute

cocaine (for which he was released December 17, 1999), a 2002 conviction for a drug crime, a 2002 conviction for attempt to elude, a 2002 conviction for second degree malicious mischief, and a 2006 conviction for felony violation of a protection order.

The State did not produce certified documents of the 1990 federal conviction. Instead, the State argued that Mr. Mendez had acknowledged the 1990 conviction in the sentencing hearing for his three 2002 convictions. Mr. Mendez objected and held the State to its burden of proving the 1990 conviction. The court agreed that the State did not present adequate proof of the 1990 conviction. The court sentenced Mr. Mendez, but also included his washed-out 1988 convictions. Mr. Mendez appealed, but did not raise the issue of his washed-out 1988 convictions. This court affirmed.

In remanding for resentencing, this court wrote:

The trial court counted nine earlier adult felonies in Jose Mendez's offender score. Jose Mendez now contends four [1988] drug convictions and one [1988] conviction for failure to return from work release should have washed out. During sentencing and by agreement of the parties, the trial court did not include in the calculation a 1990 federal conviction of conspiracy to distribute cocaine because the State had not obtained a certified record of the judgment. The State now concedes that several class C felony offenses were washed out due to the State's failure to provide a record of the federal conviction

We agree that the trial court incorrectly calculated the offender core. Consequently, we vacate the sentence and

remand to the superior court for resentencing. As a result, Jose Mendez's remaining contention regarding his trial counsel's and appellate counsel's failures to challenge the offender score are moot. ...

CP at 57-58.

At resentencing, the State notified the court it had obtained a certified copy of the federal judgment and sentence for the 1990 federal conviction. This document notes that Mr. Mendez pleaded guilty to two counts: conspiracy to distribute a controlled substance under 21 U.S.C. § 846 and distribution of a controlled substance, cocaine (over 500 grams) under 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(l). The State did not produce any other evidence for these convictions.

Mr. Mendez argued that the State waived its ability to prove the 1990 federal conviction when it failed to produce the evidence at the first sentencing hearing and when it later conceded the wash-out issue in his PRP. The parties also addressed whether the resentencing was a full resentencing hearing or was limited to the record and arguments that were presented at the initial sentencing. Mr. Mendez argued that the sentencing court could not consider evidence beyond that which was considered at the first hearing and noted that he had earlier preserved the issue of whether the federal conviction was comparable to a Washington State felony. The State countered that the hearing was a full resentencing and that the sentencing court was not limited to the record at the original

sentencing.

The sentencing court noted the language of our opinion, which remanded for "resentencing," rather than a limited sentencing hearing without the federal conviction or washed-out convictions. Report of Proceedings (July 15, 2016) (RP) at 9. The court construed our instructions to it as not precluding a full resentencing. The court thus allowed the State to introduce the certified 1990 federal judgment and sentence.

Mr. Mendez argued in opposition to an exceptional upward sentence but did not re-raise the comparability issue. The court accepted the State's proof, accepted the State's argument that the other offenses no longer washed out, and sentenced Mr. Mendez. Prior to doing so, the court did not perform a comparability analysis of the 1990 conviction with Washington law. The court calculated Mr. Mendez's offender score to be a 16 for count 1 (attempting to elude) and count 5 (felony driving under the influence) and an 11 for counts 2 and 3 (possession of controlled substances).

The court then imposed an exceptional sentence by running the convictions consecutively. The court's basis for the exceptional sentence was its "finding that Mr. Mendez committed multiple current offenses, and his offender score results in some offenses going unpunished." RP at 19.

. . .

Mr. Mendez appealed. The sentencing court later entered findings of fact and conclusions of law in support of its exceptional sentence for free crimes. (Slip 1-6)

This case rests as much on the past process and procedure as it does on the case law cited by Petitioner. (The entire opinion is contained in Appendix A.)

Mendez did not take any further action in his PRP. He did not challenge the dismissal of the three other claims, that there was insufficient evidence, that the trial court erred on another sentencing issue, same criminal conduct, and he did not challenge the Court of Appeals ruling that both of his previous attorneys were "ineffective." As noted throughout this Answer at no time did Mendez attempt to clarify or limit the Court of Appeals use of the term "resentence." Mendez's PRP was mandated by the Court of Appeals on March 29, 2016. (Appendix B)

Mendez knew he was going back before the trial court to be resentenced with no limitations in place, the plain language of each and everyone of these opinions makes that clear.

This continues to the present ruling where the Court of Appeals states in its decision that the State will be allowed to submit additional information to the trial court at the next "resentencing."

The case notes from ACORDS are attached in Appendix B

ARGUMENT

This petition is governed by RAP 13.4(b), which sets forth the standard an appellant must meet before their case will be accepted for review. Perez claims that his petition meets the criterion of RAP 13.4(b) (3) and (4), this is patently incorrect.

This case does not meet any of the criterion set forth in RAP 13.4(b) RAP 13.4(b) Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review;

4) The issues raise in this petition for review do not involve any issue of substantial public interest which would merit review by this court.

(Emphasis added.)

The State is fully aware there is no *precedential* value from a dissent in any case. However, at times a dissenting opinion can give great directional aid. Judge Siddoway stated the following in her partial dissent:

SIDDOWAY, J. (dissenting in part)-The majority opinion has been modified, following an original opinion that invited Jose Mendez to request remand for a comparability analysis of his 1990 federal conviction for distribution of a controlled substance. He accepted the invitation. The majority now orders remand with directions to the trial court to perform that comparability analysis.

I dissent in part again for the same reason I dissented in part originally. I would not grant Mr. Mendez the remedy of remand for a comparability analysis of the distribution of a controlled substance conviction for two reasons. The first is that he did not

assign error to the failure to conduct a comparability analysis of that crime.

The second is that if Mr. Mendez accepts the invitation, the most he stands to gain from such a hearing is to exclude from the calculation of his off ender score a crime that the trial court excluded for a different reason in imposing the original exceptional sentence. Nothing, score wise, will have changed. Remand is not necessary when the record clearly indicates the sentencing court would have imposed the same exceptional sentence. <u>State v. Parker</u>, 132 Wn.2d 182, 189, 937 P.2d 575 (1997). To me, the record is clear.

I otherwise agree with the majority opinion.

The State's argument in its opening brief supported the position taken by Judge Siddoway.

The following is the State's argument from that brief.

"STANDARD RANGE

In addition, it is the States position that if this court determined the trial court erred there is no need to remand this case once again.

Based on Mendez's significant offender score, even if this court were to strike the federal offense and the four crimes that would wash-out, the outcome would be the same due to Mendez's extremely high offender score and the trail courts clear intent at the two previous sentencings.

At the original sentencing and at the resentencing Mendez had by agreement of he, his trial attorney, the State's attorney and the trial court judge;

Count 1 - 16 points on - Attempting to Elude a Pursuing Police Officer,

Count 2/3 - 11 points for both counts Possession of a Controlled Substance – Cocaine/Heroin, (count 4 was a gross misdemeanor)

Count 5 - 16 points for – Felony Driving While Under the Influence of Alcohol.

The State must remind this court that the original sentence did not include the conviction from federal court.

If this court were to discount these point totals by removing the 4 old felonies from 1988 that would "washout" without the federal conviction the standard range is still exactly the same.

Using the new, lower point total Mendez would have 11 points for Count 1, 6 points for Counts 2 and 3 and 11 points for Count 5.

The State has attached in Appendix A the scoring sheets for these crimes. In each of these three felonies using the point total that is suggested by Mendez the result is the same range that was used found to be accurate in the first two sentencings.

This court may and should deny further remand of this case. Mendez made his argument to the trial court on two occasions. On the second occasion the court was presented with evidence of the actions that Mendez had taken while in prison. Mendez's trial attorney argued for a standard range sentence based on this new evidence.

The State argued again that the court should impose an exceptional sentence based on the egregious nature of Mendez's actions while he was eluding the police and the number of previous alcohol related driving offenses.

The court considered the information before it and commended the defendant for his positive actions while in prison but stated:

The difficulty is that you have a significant amount of criminal history that you need to live down. You haven't done that yet. You're progressing in that direction, but you're not there yet.

I am very much afraid that if I were to follow your request and essentially let you back out into the community that the temptation to go back to doing what you've done so many times in the past, whether it be alcohol or drugs, would be too much. So I'm going to decline the opportunity to impose a sentence within the standard range.

I think that your offender score warrants an exceptional sentence. I'm going to impose the sentence that I imposed last time.

A resentencing need not be ordered when the appellate court is convinced that the trial court would impose the same sentence on remand. State v. Carter, 127 Wn.2d 836, 904 P.2d 290 (1995). Remanding for an evidentiary hearing on that issue would not likely achieve a different result from her conviction. State v. Perez, 69 Wn. App. 133, 140, 847 P.2d 532 (1993); "We are satisfied that the trial court would have followed the State's recommendation and imposed the same sentence absent the improper factor. Therefore, we need not remand for further consideration. State v. Fisher, 108 Wn.2d 419, 429-30, 430 n.7, 739 P.2d 683 (1987). State v. Drummer, 54 Wn. App. 751, 760, 775 P.2d 981 (1989)."

Just as the act of remanding this case will in all probability result in exactly the same outcome so too will any action by this court. The case needs to be finalized in the Court of Appeals. There is nothing that can come of further review.

Law of the case.

First and foremost, the problem with Petitioner's argument is that he himself is bound by "the law of the case" from the PRP which he now attempts in this motion to assert as dispositive of the underlying sentencing issue.

Mendez never challenged the ruling of the Court of Appeals in cause 33063-5-2-III. The ruling from that opinion states in part:

We accept the State's concession that the

offender score erroneously included washed out offense. Consequently, we remand for recalculation of the offender score and resentencing. We find nomerit in Mendez's remaining contentions and otherwise dismiss the personal restraint petition.

. . .

The trial court counted nine earlier adult felonies in Jose Mendez's offender score. Jose Mendez now contends four 1998 drug convictions and one 1998 conviction for failure to return from work release should have washed out. During sentencing and by agreement of the parties, the trial court did not include in the calculation a 1990 federal conviction of conspiracy to distribute cocaine because the State had not obtained a certified record of the judgment. The State now concedes' that several class C felony offenses were washed out due to the State's failure to provide a record of the federal conviction. Under RCW 9.94A.525(2)(c), class C prior felonies are not included in the offender score if, since the last date of release from confinement or entry of judgment and sentence for a felony, 'the offender spent five consecutive years in the community without committing a crime that resulted in a conviction.

We agree that the trial court incorrectly calculated the offender score. Consequently, we vacate the sentence and remand to the superior court for resentencing. As a result, Jose Mendez's remaining contention regarding his trial counsel's and appellate counsel's failures.to challenge the offender score are moot. See State v. Hunley, 175 Wn.2d 901, 907, 287 P.3d 584 (2012).

CONCLUSION

We grant, in part, Jose Mendez's personal restraint petition. We remand the case to the Yakima County Superior Court for resentencing. Otherwise, we dismiss the petition. We refer Jose Mendez's request for counsel at the resentencing hearing to the superior court. RAP 16.15(g).

Mendez actually presented new and additional information to the

sentencing court at the time of the resentencing. The State understands this was after the trial court ruled that the Court of Appeals had sent this down as a <u>resentencing</u> with no limitation on the actions of the parties.

The trial court stated:

THE COURT: All right. Well, when this decision first came down I looked at it, and I've looked at it a number of times since then. The court's order, the Court of Appeals order, it says, we vacate the sentence and remand to the superior court for resentencing. Then they repeat, we remand the case to the Yakima County Superior Court for resentencing. They didn't say we send it back to have a sentence imposed which is within the standard range without the federal conviction and with the other state convictions having washed as a result. They say, we send it back for resentencing. I think that means that it's a whole new ball game. (VRP 7-15-16, pg. 9.)

Mendez's claims that one of the categories listed in RAP 13.4(b) is applicable to his case. He claims "[t]he issue in this case is whether the law of the case doctrine is violated when the trial court allows the State to withdraw a concession given on appeal." Petition at 7. He states the ruling is one that should be addressed because it is an issue of substantial public interest.

As is so often the case in a petition for review the issue presented is clearly of substantial interest to the defendant but that is not the standard which must be met to have this court review a Court of Appeals decision.

Here Petitioner "cites" to a factual statement that was considered

by the Court of Appeals in coming to it final decision. The final ruling of the court is the "law of the case" for the PRP filed by Mendez and that decision as set forth above, a decision that was never brought before this court on a motion for review is the law of the case. That decision said very simply "resentence" Mendez.

Mendez clearly understood the law, he was successful in his challenge in his PRP, therefore, the fact he did not challenge the order of the Court of Appeals to resentence him was obviously what he wanted.